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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION 

 
 
PHILLIPP D. BROWN,    ) 
       ) 
   Plaintiff,   ) 
       )   
 v.      ) Case No.  12 CV 10360 
       )   
       )   
CITY OF ELGIN, SEAN RAFFERTY,  ) Judge  
JAMES R. BARNES     )  Magistrate  
       ) Jury Demand Endorsed 
   Defendants.   ) 
 
 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

 NOW COMES PHILLIP D. BROWN by and through his counsel, Laurie M. Burgess, 

Burgess Law Offices, P.C., and Steven Saltzman, and brings this action against Defendants, City 

of Elgin, and against Sean Rafferty and James Barnes in their individual and capacities in 

addition to acting as agents of the City, and alleges and states as follows: 

Nature of the Case 

Plaintiff is bringing the instant suit in response to the Defendant City’s conduct of failing 

to redress unlawful racial discrimination occurring within the City Police Department, creating 

and perpetuating a hostile work environment, permitting officers and agents of the City to 

routinely use racial slurs against African American police officers like Plaintiff Phillipp Brown, a 

sixteen plus year veteran of the Elgin Police Department (“EPD”), treating African American 

officers like Officer Brown differently on the basis of race and failing to promptly and fully 

investigate allegations of race discrimination including those made by Plaintiff, resulting in loss 

of employment opportunities and significant pain and suffering of Plaintiff in violation of Title 
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VII, 42 U.S.C. §1981 and §1983.  Plaintiff is also bringing the instant suit against Defendants 

Sean Rafferty and James Barnes for engaging in conduct that each knew constituted race 

discrimination within the meaning of Section 1981 and Section 1983 and seek compensatory 

damages and punitive damages from them. He also has brought an additional claim against 

Defendant City of Elgin for violations of the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).  Plaintiff 

seeks injunctive relief, statutory damages and compensatory damages against Defendant City of 

Elgin and injunctive relief, compensatory damages and punitive damages against Defendants 

Rafferty and Barnes. 

Venue & Jurisdiction 

 1. This Court has jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331, §1343(3) 

and (4), 42 U.S.C. §2000e - 5(f)(3) and 29 U.S.C. §2617(a). 

 2. Venue is appropriate in this Court because the unlawful employment practices 

alleged herein were committed within the Northern District of the State of Illinois.   

The Parties 

 3. Plaintiff Phillipp D. Brown (“Plaintiff” or “Brown”), is an individual residing in 

the State of Illinois and within the Northern District of Illinois.  Plaintiff has been employed as a 

police officer by Defendant City of Elgin in its Police Department since 1996. 

 4. Plaintiff is an African American Black male who was subjected to discrimination 

within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2(a)(1) and unlawful treatment under the FMLA, 29 

U.S.C. §2601 et seq.  At all times relevant hereto, he has been an eligible employee under the 

FMLA, 29 U.S.C. §2611(2). 

Case: 1:12-cv-10360 Document #: 1 Filed: 12/27/12 Page 2 of 18 PageID #:2



 3 

 5. Defendant City of Elgin (the “City”) is a body politic and city located in the State 

of Illinois and organized under the laws of the State of Illinois.  The Defendant City is an 

employer within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §2000e(b) in that it engages in an industry affecting 

commerce, and it employs more than 15 employees “for each working day in each of twenty or 

more calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year.”  In fact the Elgin Police 

Department, itself, employs approximately 500 persons.  Defendant is an Employer within the 

meaning of the Family and Medical Leave Act in that it employs in excess of 50 employees 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §2611(4) 

6. Defendant Sean Rafferty is a Caucasian male who resides in the State of Illinois 

who has been employed as a police officer by the Defendant City of Elgin since before Plaintiff 

began serving in the Elgin Police Department in 1996.  Defendant Rafferty is being sued 

individually, as well as in his capacity as an agent of the Defendant City in its Police Department 

and as a Supervisor of Plaintiff. 

7. Defendant James R. Barnes is a Caucasian male who resides in the State of 

Illinois and who has been employed as a police officer by the Defendant City of Elgin off and on 

but was serving as the Department’s internal affairs investigator since at least the beginning of 

2011.  Defendant Barnes is being sued in his individual capacity as well as an agent of the 

Defendant City in its Police Department. 

Factual Background: Plaintiff’s Experience of EPD’s History of Racism 

8. At all times relevant hereto, the Elgin Police Department has been responsible for 

providing police protection and the prevention and investigation of crimes within the City of 

Elgin to protect the residents of Elgin and so that criminal behavior can be prosecuted.  Elgin is a 

community in which whites, African Americans, Latinos and other ethnic groups reside.   
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9. Individual officers often face dangerous situations.  They are often subjected to 

emotionally stressful situations as part of their regular duties.  EPD officers depend and need the 

cooperation and goodwill of their fellow officers and other employees of the EPD.  An 

environment in which racial hatred and dislike of fellow officers on the basis of their race is 

allowed to fester can only undermine mission of the EPD and harm the integrity and values that 

is at the core of the EPD’s mission. 

10. For over a decade, the City of Elgin, its City Council, Police Board, its police 

chiefs, deputy chiefs and EPD officers and other supervisors knew that certain officers, 

including, but not limited to, Defendant Rafferty were creating an ongoing racially hostile work 

environment for African American officers of EPD, including Plaintiff.  These creation of a 

racially hostile work environment included all too frequent positive references to the Ku Klux 

Klan, a racist organization dedicated to the murder and grave physical harm of African 

Americans in the United States, the use of offensive racist language toward and in the presence 

of African American EPD officers, including Plaintiff, false accusations of wrongdoing against 

Plaintiff and other African American officers on the basis of their race, denial of FMLA benefits 

to Plaintiff on the basis of his race and finally a trumped-up cover-up when Plaintiff made 

complaints about the hostile work environment in the EPD.   What follows are some of the 

examples of the behavior that has created a racially hostile work environment that has been 

tolerated and acquiesced in by the City of Elgin. 

11. At the time that Plaintiff was hired in EPD, Plaintiff was exposed to, and was told 

about discriminatory racist comments in the EPD that led Plaintiff to understand that these racist 

comments were accepted and part of the EPD culture. 
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12. In or about 2000, Plaintiff and several other officers from EPD attended a football 

game in Indianapolis.  While in that vicinity, Defendant Rafferty, who served in the gang unit 

with Plaintiff, had his picture taken with fellow police officer Tom Wolek in front of a Ku-Klux-

Klan monument.  Rafferty ad Wolek both posed in the picture showing their hands in the sign of 

a “K,” while stating, “if you are looking for the Klan, we’re right here.” 

13. Upon returning to the EPD after that trip, the photo of Defendant Rafferty and 

Wolek in front of the KKK monument was widely disseminated in and around the EPD. 

14. On one occasion in or around the incident in which the KKK photograph was 

taken, while Plaintiff was working the gang unit with Defendant Rafferty, Rafferty stopped three 

Caucasian teenagers near a theatre on Randall Road in Elgin, and discovered that the teens were 

in possession of approximately one-half pound of cannabis.  Rafferty, who was in charge of the 

investigation, dumped the cannabis down a nearby drain and released the teens without arrest.  

Later that same evening, Rafferty, in Plaintiff’s presence, stopped two African American 

teenagers near the Schoolhouse Apartments in Elgin and discovered that they had cannabis joints 

in their possession.  Rafferty, who was also in charge of this investigation, arrested both African 

Americans. 

15. In or around the time of the Ku-Klux-Klan photograph incident, Rafferty stopped 

an African-American male gang member in Plaintiff’s presence.  This individual told the officers 

that he was driving a car owned by his Caucasian girlfriend who resided in St. Charles.  Rafferty, 

in Plaintiff’s presence, contacted the girl’s father and told him that his daughter should stop 

hanging around with “gang members” and interchangeably referred to gang members as “those 

black guys.” 
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16. At the time that the above incidents occurred, Plaintiff did not report them 

because he knew that Rafferty was well-liked by the Caucasian Supervisors and he feared for his 

job.  Therefore, instead, Plaintiff asked for a transfer from the Gang Unit – a prestigious 

assignment – to another unit in the EPD.  

17.  In or about 2000, African-American Elgin Police Officer Steve Jones wrote a 

memorandum to the Police Chief Miller complaining of race discrimination within the Elgin 

Police Department and claiming that the Department had a “Klan-like” mentality.  

18. Police Officer Jones was terminated from employment in response to the conduct 

described in paragraph 17. 

19. In or about 2002, after leaving the Gang Unit due to his discomfort in working 

with Defendant Rafferty, Plaintiff was assigned to be a “school liaison” at  Elgin High School.  

In approximately 2006, unbeknownst to Plaintiff, Defendant Rafferty instigated an investigation 

that ultimately involved the FBI, in which he alleged or insinuated in a racially derogatory and 

false manner that Plaintiff was feeding information to gangs at that school.  Based upon 

Rafferty’s allegations and the ensuing FBI investigation, Plaintiff, from October, 2007 to 

January, 2009 was compelled to accept desk duty at EPD – a position that all officers consider to 

be a low level, degrading assignment.  As a result of that assignment, Plaintiff lost a significant 

amount of overtime pay during that period that he would have received if he had been kept in his 

regular assignment.  After the investigation was finally completed, Plaintiff was not charged with 

any wrong-doing whatsoever but has continued to be harmed in that being put at a low level job 

has harmed his opportunity for the kinds of assignments that would advance his career and 

caused him ongoing emotional distress. 
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20. In or about 2006, African American Elgin Police Officer Sergeant Gary Neil 

wrote a memorandum which was provided to Defendant Barnes in Internal Affairs complaining 

that Caucasian Elgin Police Officer Lieutenant Rafferty made a comment at the home of Office 

William Wood that Officer Wood’s ex-wife was a “ni****-lover” on the basis that she had been 

seen spending time with African-American males. 

21. Defendant Barnes took no action in response to the complaint regarding 

Defendant Rafferty’s “ni****-lover” comment identified in paragraph 20 above. 

22. In or about 2009, the City of Elgin experienced significant problems with 

raccoons that were carrying a virus and EDP officers were instructed to shoot the raccoons under 

certain circumstances.  Officer Radmer, a Caucasian, would state during roll call “I bagged __ of 

you coons.”  On information and belief, the officers, including Plaintiff, all understood the term 

“coons” as a racially offensive reference to African Americans. 

23. In or around 2009, someone with access to Plaintiff’s locker placed a photograph 

of Defendant Rafferty’s “KKK” photo inside Plaintiff’s locker. Certainly, Defendant Rafferty 

had access to that racist photograph at the time it was placed in Plaintiff’s locker.  At the time of 

this incident, Rafferty had been promoted to Lieutenant and was in a supervisory relationship 

over Plaintiff. 

24. In or about late 2009 or early 2010, Lieutenant Rafferty sent Plaintiff two text 

messages: one included a photograph of athletes, including Plaintiff, from the time that Plaintiff 

was a student at Glenbard North High School.  The second text message inquired of Plaintiff, 

“which one [in the photo] is you?”  Plaintiff was the only African American in the photograph. 
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25. In or about late 2009, Plaintiff began to experience migraines for the first time in 

his life.  Plaintiff was given corrective action on December 1, 2009 for missing too much work.  

At that time, Plaintiff reported that the illness was due to stress.   

26. In approximately February, 2010, Plaintiff was placed on a “sick contract” due to 

his absences from work even though these absences were caused by stress from work. 

27. Caucasian officers with similar or greater number of absences from work have not 

been placed on “sick contract.” 

28. Plaintiff should not have been placed on a “sick contract” or received any written 

write-up for his absences from work because these absences were covered under the FMLA. 

29. In or about early 2010, Plaintiff went to see a therapist through EAP in order to 

deal with the stress at work triggered by the racist environment at EPD. 

30. In or about April, 2010, the Elgin Police Department circulated a memorandum to 

its officers alerting the officers that certain individuals who belonged to a gang called “Hood 

N*****s” could be detained without probable cause.  In fact, no such gang “Hood N*****s” 

existed at that time.  Instead, the name of the gang was Gangster Disciples.  The “Hood 

N*****s” nick name for the gang was created as a pretext to enable officers to stop African 

Americans without probable cause, and also enabled Caucasian officers in the Elgin Police 

Department to freely use the term “N*****s” in the presence of African-American police 

officers without recourse by the African-American police officers.  The term “Hood N*****s” 

was first used when Defendant Rafferty became Sergeant in charge of the gang unit.  Similar 

memorandum remained in circulation within the Elgin Police Department at least through 2011. 
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31. In or around January, 2011, Plaintiff had an opportunity to purchase a 

“commemorative badge” for his years of service.  Chief of Policy Swoboda was asked to have 

his picture taken with Plaintiff, but Swoboda declined on the basis that Plaintiff has facial hair.   

Lt. Theriault, at instruction of Swoboda, then removed the commemorative pin from Plaintiff’s 

chest, placed it on a newly hired Caucasian officer, and had his photo taken with the newly hired 

Caucasian officer.  Plaintiff has facial hair due to a medical complication common among 

African American males.  His condition is documented at CPD, which Police Chief Swoboda 

knew. 

32. The photograph of the young, newly hired Caucasian police offer prominently 

wearing the Star Badge that belongs to Plaintiff, appeared on the front page of the local 

newspaper – the Chronicle News. 

32.  The fact that Plaintiff’s badge was removed from him, and placed on a newly 

hired Caucasian police officer caused Plaintiff to feel demeaned and humiliated.  The Caucasian 

Officer was terminated from the EPD before completing his probationary period with the EPD. 

33. Following the incident of a young Caucasian officer’s photograph appearing on 

the front page of the newspaper wearing Plaintiff’s star badge, Plaintiff was taunted and mocked 

over the incident.  Plaintiff was so distressed by the incident and being taunted by other officers 

in the department that he permanently ceased wearing his commemorative badge.   

Plaintiff Formally Requests Investigation of EPD Racism 

34. After years of being exposed to racist conduct and after finally being cleared of 

any wrong doing arising from the FBI investigation that was instigated and racially motivated by 

Defendant Rafferty, and feeling intense emotional and psychological drama from these incidents, 
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in or January, 2011 Plaintiff complained orally to Deputy Chief Robert Beeter regarding the race 

discrimination and harassment that Plaintiff had experienced while serving as a police officer 

with EPD. 

35. Deputy Chief Beeter did not respond to Plaintiff’s oral complaint. 

36. On March 8, 2011, Plaintiff complained, in writing, via email, to Chief Beeter 

regarding “racially insensitive” texts and pictures that he had received from Defendant Rafferty 

and expressing fear of retaliation from him and/or other Supervisors in response to his complaint. 

37. Beeter responded to Plaintiff’s written complaint by requesting that Plaintiff 

provide additional information by March 16, 2011.  Plaintiff complied by providing requested 

information on March 13, 2011, in which he reported the racist remarks and incidents described 

herein, and noted that Rafferty and other Caucasian officers who are close friends of Rafferty, 

continued to taunt and mock Plaintiff regarding the FBI investigation that Rafferty had instigated 

of Plaintiff.   

37. In his March 13, 2011 complaint, Plaintiff highlighted new acts of intimidation 

and acts to humiliate and demean Plaintiff which were engaged in by Rafferty and other 

Caucasian officers. 

38. In his March 13, 2011 complaint, Plaintiff advised Beeter that the above conduct 

had resulted in significant fear, intimidation, and psychological duress and physical problems 

which required medical treatment. 

39. On May 4, 2011, Defendant advised Plaintiff that if any further incidents of racial 

discrimination occurred, Plaintiff should tell investigator Barnes. 
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40. In or about May, 2011, during roll-call, Plaintiff took a seat at the back of the 

room.  Caucasian officer Steven Hill commented to Plaintiff that he was “sitting at the back of 

the bus today.”  Plaintiff felt that this statement was an inappropriate and demeaning reference to 

pre-civil rights treatment of African-Americans.  Plaintiff promptly reported this statement to 

management. 

41. On or about June 26, 2011, Officer Robert O’Quinn wrote a confidential 

memorandum to the Chief of  Police complaining of conduct within the EPD that he considered 

to be bigoted.  In response to that memorandum, the EPD issued O’Quinn a letter of reprimand 

in response to that memo claiming that the charge was “frivolous.”  

42. On June 29, 2011, Caucasian Officer Mark Hornsby approached Plaintiff and 

asked him how his “chitterling,” referring to Plaintiff’s infant son, was.   

43. Plaintiff reported this comment by Hornsby which Plaintiff found to be racially 

insensitive to Barnes, as he had been instructed to do.  Defendant Barnes said that he did not 

know what a chitterling was, and then checked the “Urban Dictionary” (eschewing Webster and 

conventional dictionaries) for the term “chitterling.”  The “Urban Dictionary” defines the term as 

follows: 

1. Chitterlings: Pig intestines.  They smell like shit even after they are cleaned and 
 cooked.  They will make your house smell like shit, your hands and body smell like shit, 
 and your breath smell like shit.  

 

44. After looking up the “Urban Dictionary” definition of “chitterling,” Barnes stated 

to Plaintiff, “you guys (referring to African Americans) eat that stuff?  Plaintiff found Barnes’ 

conduct towards him to be dismissive, and found Barnes’ inquiry regarding “you guys” to be 

independently racially offensive. 

Case: 1:12-cv-10360 Document #: 1 Filed: 12/27/12 Page 11 of 18 PageID #:11



 12 

45. Defendant City ultimately concluded that Hornsby’s conduct of referring to 

Plaintiff’s son as “chitterling” violated no City department rules or regulations and the finding 

was therefor of “exonerated” resulting in no corrective action whatsoever. 

46.  Defendant City did not conclude its investigation of Plaintiff’s complaints of 

racial discrimination and harassment until August 3, 2011 – five months after Plaintiff provided 

his detailed account of discrimination to Defendant City. During the pendency of its 

investigation, Defendant City knowingly permitted Plaintiff to be continually subjected to 

racially demeaning statements and actions.   

47. Defendant’s inaction and delay in investigating Plaintiff’s allegations had the 

intentional and foreseeable result of causing Plaintiff extreme psychological duress.  

Specifically, Plaintiff was working in a highly demanding and dangerous environment side-by-

side with Officers against whom Plaintiff had made very specific allegations of racial 

discrimination. 

48. Since learning of Plaintiff’s complaints of discrimination, no training has been 

conducted for the EPD officers regarding race discrimination, racial sensitivity, or any other 

matter that would train officers regarding their rights and obligations with respect to appropriate 

workplace conduct vis-à-vis race relations. 

Defendants’ Knowledge of the Race Discrimination within EPD 

49. As stated in ¶¶8-10 above, the Supervisory staff of the Elgin Police Department, 

including, but not limited to Defendants Rafferty and Barnes and the Chief of Police were aware 

of racist conduct in the Elgin Police Department including the conduct described above.  In 

addition, as stated above, the City of Elgin, through its Chief of Police, supervisors, managers, 
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agents and Council members, are aware of “long-standing” racism existing in the Elgin Police 

Department such as the conduct described above, are aware of racist actions occurring in the 

EPD continuing through the current date and of the destructive impact that the racist conduct 

toward African-American members of the EPD has on such officers. 

Plaintiff’s Title VII Administrative Procedure Compliance with the EEOC 

50. Plaintiff filed a timely charge with the EEOC on September 29, 2011 alleging 

employment discrimination on the basis of race regarding the issues complained above against 

Defendant City of Elgin.  See EEOC charge attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

 51. On or about October 3, 2012, Plaintiff’s attorney  was sent a "Notice of Right To 

Sue" letter advising him of his right to institute a civil action in the appropriate United States 

District Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §2000e-f(1).005 charge.  That letter, attached hereto as 

Exhibit A was received on October 5, 2012.   

Count I: Title VII Violation Against Defendant City 

1-51.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and adopts the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1-51 as though expressly stated herein. 

52. The conduct described above created a hostile work environment for African 

American members of the EPD and for Plaintiff individually. 

53. Defendant City has been on notice of the racially insensitive, racially charged 

atmosphere in CPD since at least the mid-1990s (the time of Plaintiff’s employment) through the 

current date. 

54. Defendant City engaged in no meaningful acts such as training or taking 

appropriate disciplinary action to prevent a racially hostile work environment. 
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55. Despite its knowledge of the racially hostile work environment that exists toward 

African Americans employed in the EPD and despite its knowledge of the physical and 

psychological harm that could and would likely befall an officer working under these conditions, 

the Defendant City took no meaningful action to prevent Plaintiff from suffering the acts of 

discrimination described herein. 

56. When confronted by Plaintiff’s specific allegations of misconduct that created a 

racially charged hostile work environment, Defendant only responded to the allegations when 

they were put in writing by Plaintiff, failed to act promptly in response to those allegations, and 

instead took five months to complete its investigation of Plaintiff’s claims and inform him of its 

conclusions. 

57. After learning of Plaintiff’s legitimate claims regarding racially insensitive and 

insulting and intimidating conduct in the EPD, Defendant persisted in dismissing and demeaning 

the conduct toward, and impact of the conduct on Plaintiff by e.g., finding that the conduct of 

referring to Plaintiff’s son as “chitterling” as violating absolutely no policy or code of conduct in 

the Elgin Police Department. 

58. Given Defendant City’s conclusion that Rafferty engaged in the racially offensive  

conduct involving the “KKK” photograph and Rafferty’s subsequent conduct of triggering an 

unfounded FBI investigation of Plaintiff, the City’s failure to take any action to ensure that 

Plaintiff is protected from future acts of discrimination and to eliminate the system of a racially 

offensive work environment allows that environment to continue to exist.    

59. By and through the above conduct, the Defendant City has subjected Plaintiff to 

intentional and egregious race discrimination in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964. 
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60. By and through the above conduct, the Defendant City acted with reckless 

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights to be free from a racially discriminatory and hostile work 

environment. 

61. As detailed in the complaint, Plaintiff has suffered loss of overtime pay in 2009-

2010 and loss of sick time during that period due to the hostile work environment that has 

existed and discriminatory treatment he received.  He has also suffered emotional distress due to 

the actions described herein and the failures by the City of Elgin and the EPD to take appropriate 

action to not only prevent such racist behavior but to make clear that officers of the EPD are 

entitled to work in a place free of racist practices and that such practices will not be tolerated.   In 

addition, he seeks injunctive relief as detailed below. 

Count II: Sections 1981 and 1983 Violations Against All Defendants 

1-61. Plaintiff reincorporates and re-pleads paragraphs 1-51. as though fully stated 

herein. 

62. The allegations above demonstrate that Defendants engaged in a practice of race 

based discrimination which amounted to malicious and intentional disregard for Plaintiff’s 

federally protected rights.  The actions and inactions as described above show a custom and 

practice of race discrimination in the treatment of African American Elgin police officers 

including Plaintiff of which all policymakers were or should have been aware.  The allegations 

above demonstrate that Defendant City was unlawfully motivated by race discrimination in 

violation of Plaintiff’s right to equal protection as provided under §§ 1981 and 1983. 

63. Defendant Rafferty, through his actions as described above, intentionally 

discriminated against Plaintiff by creating a racially hostile work environment and an 
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overwhelming body of case law make clear that his conduct was well established to be 

discriminatory in violation of §§ 1981 and 1983. 

64. Defendant Barnes, through his actions as described above, intentionally 

discriminated against Plaintiff by creating a racially hostile work environment and by failing to 

take appropriate and timely action to end the impact of the racially hostile work environment 

created by Defendant Rafferty and others.  An overwhelming body of case law make clear that 

his conduct was well established to be discriminatory in violation of §§ 1981 and 1983. 

65. Through the actions described above, Plaintiff suffered monetary losses and 

emotional harm and suffering for which he seeks compensation against all defendants. 

66. To punish Defendants Rafferty and Barnes for their intentional wrongdoing and to 

deter future wrongdoing, he seeks an award of punitive damages against both individual 

defendants. 

67. Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief to undo the racially hostile work environment and 

to prevent one from being created in the future.  

Count III: against Defendant City: FMLA 

1-51. Plaintiff reincorporates and re-pleads paragraphs 1-51. as though fully stated 

herein. 

68. In or about January, 2010 and thereafter, Plaintiff qualified for taking FMLA time 

off from work in that he had worked for Defendant more than one year and had worked in excess 

of 1250 in the past year. 

69. Based upon Plaintiff’s description of his illness (serious, frequent headaches), and 

his intent to see a specialist regarding this recurring condition, Defendant knew or should have 
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known from December, 2009 through past April, 2010 and thereafter that Plaintiff was suffering 

from an FMLA-qualifying illness. 

70. Plaintiff was in fact suffering from an FMLA qualifying illness in or about 

December, 2009 and continuing. 

71. Defendant failed to advise Plaintiff of his rights under the FMLA in response to 

Plaintiff’s FMLA-qualifying condition. 

72. Defendant failed to provide Plaintiff in or about December 2009 or at any time 

thereafter with written information pertaining to his rights under the FMLA. 

73. Once Plaintiff advised Defendant of the nature of his illness, Defendant insisted 

that Plaintiff bring written doctors excuses to Defendant each and every time that he was absent 

from work during 2010. 

74. Defendant acted with willful disregard for Plaintiff’s rights under the FMLA by 

failing and refusing to advise him of his rights under the FMLA, failing to advise him in writing 

that his absences qualified for FMLA, by advising Plaintiff that he was required to bring in notes 

for each and every time he was absent due to a qualifying FMLA reason, and by placing Plaintiff 

on “sick ---“ in response to taking FMLA-qualifying days off of work. 

Jury Demand 

 75. Plaintiff demands trial by a jury of twelve persons on all issues that can be tried 

before juries. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

 1. Grant injunctive relief requiring Defendant City of Elgin to dismantle its system 

of a racially hostile work environment in the EPD by imposing prompt and severe discipline 
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against those officers who engage in racially discriminatory conduct toward other officers or the 

public; institute a comprehensive training program developed and implemented by an outside 

consultant approved by the Court and Plaintiff’s attorneys to provide racial sensitivity training 

for all EPD employees and supervisors and to make that training part of the training given to new 

recruits; and impose a three year monitoring period by a court approved monitor to ensure that 

the racially hostile work environment at the EPD is and remains destroyed..  

 2. Grant an award of damages for lost sick days and lost overtime and compensatory 

damages for emotional harm and suffering against all defendants. 

 3. Grant punitive damages against Defendants Rafferty and Barnes. 

 4. Award Plaintiff’s attorney fees and costs of this suit; and 

 5. Grant Plaintiff any other relief as this Court deems just and equitable. 

        Respectfully submitted   

Dated: December 27, 2012    By: /s/ Laurie M. Burgess 
        One of his attorneys 

  
Laurie M. Burgess 
Burgess Law Offices, P.C. 
1 South Dearborn 
Suite 2100 
Chicago, IL 60603 
(312) 456-0500 
lburgess@burgess-laborlaw.com 
 
Steven Saltzman 
200 S. Michigan Ave., Ste. 201 
Chicago, Il. 60604 
(312) 427-4500 
SSaltzlaw@gmail.com  
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